
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OKLAHOMA 

 
 
(1) Jane Doe and (2) John Doe  and   
(3) Mary Roe and (4) Richard Roe,  
Individually and on behalf of  
(5) Baby Doe 
 
v. 
(1) Scott Pruitt, in his official capacity 
as Oklahoma Attorney General, 
(2) Todd Hembree, in his official 
capacity as Cherokee Nation Attorney 
General. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
 

 
 
 
 
 

CASE NO. 2015-cv-471-JED-FHM 

 
VERIFIED COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY 

AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
 

For their Verified Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief, Plaintiffs state 

and allege as follows: 

1. This is a complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief challenging the 

constitutionality of certain provisions of the Oklahoma Indian Child Welfare Act 

(OICWA), 10 Okla. Stat. §40 et seq, Oklahoma's state corollary and complement to the 

Indian Child Welfare Act of 1978 (ICWA), 25 U.S.C. §§ 1901-63.  This action is not 

related to any previously filed action in this Court.  

2. Plaintiffs allege that 10 Okla. Stat. §§ 40.3, 40.4 and 40.6 are facially 

unconstitutional, and unconstitutional as applied to Plaintiffs, under the Fourteenth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution. 
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Parties 

3. Plaintiff, Jane Doe, is 18 years of age, is domiciled in the State of Oklahoma, 

and is enrolled in the Cherokee Nation.  Jane Doe is not domiciled within or reside on an 

Indian reservation. 

4. Plaintiff, John Doe, is 18 years of age, domiciled in the State of Oklahoma, and 

is not enrolled in an Indian tribe.  John Doe is not domiciled within or reside on an Indian 

reservation. 

5. Plaintiff, Mary Roe, is over the age of 18, domiciled in the State of Oklahoma, 

and is not enrolled in an Indian Tribe. Mary Roe is not domiciled within or reside on an 

Indian reservation. 

6.  Plaintiff, Richard Roe, is over the age of 18, domiciled in the State of 

Oklahoma, and is enrolled in the Cherokee Nation.  Richard Roe is not domiciled within 

or reside on an Indian reservation. 

7. Plaintiffs Jane and John Doe are the biological parents of Baby Doe, born in 

July of 2015, and their paretnal rights to Baby Doe have not been terminated.  They re 

fully supportive of the completion of Baby Doe's adoption by Richard and Mary Roe 

("Adoptive Parents").  Jane Doe believes Baby Doe is eligible for membership in the 

Cherokee Nation because of Jane Doe's membership in the Cherokee Nation.  Baby Doe 

is not and has never been domiciled or resided within an Indian reservation. 

8. Plaintiffs Mary and Richard Roe are Baby Doe's potential adoptive parents.  

9. The use of anonymous identifiers for Plaintiffs is appropriate given the privacy 

issue at the heart of this case. 
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10. Scott Pruett is the Oklahoma Attorney General. He and his office are legally 

obligated to ensure the provisions of the Oklahoma Indian Child Welfare Act are 

enforced.   

11. Todd Embree is the Cherokee Nation Attorney General.  He and his office are 

responsible for the prosecution of all Cherokee Nation actions necessary under the Indian 

Child Welfare Act. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

12. This Court has original jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331, 42 U.S.C. §§ 

1983, 1988, and the federal common law jurisdictional doctrine established in Ex parte 

Young, 209 U.S. 123 (1908), to redress the deprivation under color of state law of rights 

secured by the federal constitution. 

13. This Court also has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 2201 over Plaintiffs' 

facial challenges to 10 Okla. Stat. §§ 40.3, 40.4 and 40.6. 

14. The relevant acts and omissions occurred, and are likely to continue occurring, 

in the State of Oklahoma; therefore, venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1391(b)(2). 

15.  A permanent injunction, enjoining Defendants from enforcing the challenged 

provisions of the Act, will protect Plaintiffs' rights after the final resolution of these 

proceedings. 

ICWA's Notice Provisions for Involuntary Proceedings 

16.  Congress passed ICWA in response to a high number of Indian children being 

removed from their homes by both public and private agencies. Congress's intent was to 
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"protect the best interests of Indian children and to promote the stability and security of 

Indian tribes and families" 25 U.S.C. § 1902. 

17. 25 U.S.C. § 1912(b) provides tribes with a right of intervention during state 

court proceedings for the involuntary termination of an Indian parent(s) parental rights: 

In any involuntary proceeding in a State court, where the court knows or has 
reason to know that an Indian child is involved, the party seeking the foster care 
placement of, or termination of parental rights to, an Indian child shall notify the 
parent or Indian custodian and the Indian child's tribe, by registered mail with 
return receipt requested, of the pending proceedings and of their right of 
intervention ... 
 
18. By granting a tribe the right to intervene in involuntary foster care or 

termination proceedings, Congress enabled the tribe to seek enforcement of ICWA's 

placement preferences.  In cases where the parents' rights are terminated, an Indian child 

must be placed in accordance with 25 U.S.C. § 1915(a): 

In any adoptive placement of an Indian child under State law, a preference shall be 
given, in the absence of good cause to the contrary, to a placement with 

(1) a member of the child's extended family; 

(2) other members of the Indian child's tribe; or 

(3) other Indian families. 
 

19.  25 U.S.C. § 1916 provides the authority to invalidate any adoptive placement 

where notice was not properly provided pursuant to 25 U.S.C. § 1912(b). 

20. Courts have repeatedly held or otherwise recognized that ICWA's notice 

provisions contained in Section 1912(b) do not pertain to voluntary adoption proceedings. 

See, e.g., Duncan v. Wiley, 1982 OK CIV App 45, 657 P.2d 1212, Navajo Nation v. 
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Super. Court of the State of Washington, 47 F. Supp. 2d 1233, 1238 (E.D. Wash. 1999); 

see also Catholic Soc. Servs., Inc. v. C.A.A., 783 P.2d 1159, 1160 (Alaska 1989). 

21. In Oklahoma, voluntary and involuntary termination proceedings for the 

purposes of adoption are governed by 10 Okla. Stat. §§7503-2.3, 7505-2.1, 7505-4.1 and 

7505-4.2.  Involuntary proceedings can occur for a number of reasons including 

abandonment, neglect, or failure to contribute to the support or financial aid of the child. 

Id at 7505-4.2. In Oklahoma, parents may also voluntarily consent to adoption by signing 

consents to adoption under Okla. Stat.§7503-2.4.  Involuntary termination proceedings 

brought by the State of Oklahoma are governed by the provisions of the Children and 

Juvenile Code found in Title 10A.  

The Extended Reach of the Oklahoma Indian Child Welfare Act 

22. The Oklahoma Indian Child Welfare Act was originally enacted in 1982 and 

codified at 10 Okla. Stat. §§40 et seq.  

23. The original version of OICWA provided notice to tribes "In any involuntary 

proceeding of the Oklahoma Indian Child Welfare Act, including review hearings, the 

court shall send notice to the parents or to the Indian custodians, if any, and to the tribe of 

the Indian child, and to the appropriate Bureau of Indian Affairs area office, by registered 

mail…" .10 Okla... Stat. § 40.4. 

24. But even as originally enacted the law did not mandate notice to Indian tribes 

of voluntary proceedings where Indian parents desired to place their children for 

adoption. 
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25. In 1994, the Oklahoma legislature expanded upon OICWA and took the statute 

far beyond the federal law and enacted notice and intervention provisions pertaining to 

voluntary adoptions: 

B. Except as provided for in subsection A of this section, the Oklahoma Indian 
Child Welfare Act applies to all state voluntary and involuntary child custody 
court proceedings involving Indian children, regardless of whether or not the 
children involved are in the physical or legal custody of an Indian parent or Indian 
custodian at the time state proceedings are initiated. 

 10 Okla. Stat. §40.3 

 And: 

In all Indian child custody proceedings of the Oklahoma Indian Child Welfare 
Act, including voluntary court proceedings and review hearings, the court shall 
ensure that the district attorney or other person initiating the proceeding shall send 
notice to the parents or to the Indian custodians, if any, and to the tribe that is or 
may be the tribe of the Indian child, and to the appropriate Bureau of Indian 
Affairs area office, by certified mail… 

 10 Okla. Stat. §40.4 

26. 10 Okla. Stat. §40.4 states that each notice sent to a tribe must include 

language advising the tribe of a right to intervene in each case.  The expansion of 

OICWA to voluntary adoption cases gives the Tribes a right to intervene in a voluntary 

case. 

27. The 1994 amendments to OICWA also amended §40.6 which now states:  

The placement preferences specified in 25 U.S.C. Section 1915, shall apply 
to all preadjudicatory placements, as well as preadoptive, adoptive and foster care 
placements. In all placements of an Indian child by the Oklahoma Department of 
Human Services (DHS), or b) any person or other placement agency, DHS, the 
person or placement agency shall utilize to the maximum extent possible the 
services of the Indian tribe of the child in securing placement consistent with the 
provisions of the Oklahoma Indian Child Welfare Act. This requirement shall 
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include cases where a consenting parent evidences a desire for anonymity in the 
consent document executed pursuant to Section 60.5 of this title.2 If a request for 
anonymity is included in a parental consent document, the court shall give weight 
to such desire in applying the preferences only after notice is given to the child's 
tribe and the tribe is afforded twenty (20) days to intervene and request a hearing 
on available tribal placement resources which may protect parental confidentiality, 
provided that notice of such hearing shall be given to the consenting parent. 

 

28. Unlike ICWA, the Oklahoma Indian Child Welfare Act, facially and as 

applied, gives Indian tribes the right under the color of state law to interfere with 

voluntary, private adoptions. 

Baby Doe's Private Direct Placement Adoption 

29. Jane Doe gave birth to Baby Doe in July of 2015 in Tulsa, Oklahoma. 

30. Jane and John Doe are unmarried but have been a couple and continuously 

lived together for over a year. There is no possibility that anyone other than John Doe is 

the father. 

31. Jane and John Doe reached the difficult decision that adoption would be best 

for Baby Doe in light of their young age and personal circumstances. 

32. Jane and John Doe specifically elected to proceed with a private direct 

placement adoption through an attorney.   A private adoption, commenced under the 

Oklahoma Adoption Code allows Jane and John Doe to specifically select who Baby 

Doe's Adoptive Parents will be. No one other than the selected Adoptive Parents are 

legally able to adopt Baby Doe under this adoption method since they do not have the 

biological parents' consent and the child is not otherwise "free" for adoption. 
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33. Adoption proceedings are strictly confidential under state law. 10 Okla. Stat. 

§7505-1.1(A). (hearings confidential except as to interested parties and their counsel). All 

adoption records, such as birth certificates (confidential under 10 Okla. Stat§7505-1.1(B) 

and §§7505-6.5(C) and (E)), detailed social and medical histories on the birth parents 

(required under 10 Okla. Stat. §§7504-1.1 and 1.2), and adoption home studies and 

criminal background checks on adoptive parents (required under 10 Okla. Stat§§ 7505-

5.1, 5.2 and 5.3) are likewise confidential, open to inspection only by order of the court.  

10 Okla. Stat. §§7505-1.1. 

34. In private adoptive placements under the Oklahoma Adoption Code, where the 

parent directly places a child with adoptive parents of their choosing, notice is required to 

be sent only to parents with notice rights or an agency or DHS, if the agency or DHS had 

custody of the child, 10 Okla. Stat§7505-6.3.  No governmental entity has the right to 

notice in such adoption proceedings - unless the child is an Indian child under OICWA, 

in which case the tribe must be notified of its right to intervene. 10 Okla. Stat§§ 40.3, 

40.4, 40.6. As an intervenor, the tribe has the right to discovery of all reports or other 

documents filed with the court. 25 U.S.C. § 1912(c). 

35. Jane and John Doe began planning the adoption of their child in approximately 

the end of March of 2015.  They were matched with a potential adoptive family at 

approximately the end of April of 2015 and after being matched, Jane Doe communicated 

with the potential adoptive mother daily.  Jane Doe did not learn that she was a member 

of the Cherokee Nation until approximately May 20, 2015 when she discussed the matter 

with her estranged Father.  After discussing the matter with their counsel, Jane and John 
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Doe became incensed that that the Cherokee Nation would have any right to interfere 

with the adoption plan that which they had agonized over for many months.  Jane and 

John Doe did not grow up following tribal traditions or participating in tribal events.  

Jane and John have never had contact with the Cherokee Nation, they do not know 

anything about the Cherokee culture and heritage and, at this point, they have no interest 

in learning about those subjects.   

36. The adoptive parents originally selected by Jane and John Doe are not of 

Indian descent. However, Jane and John Doe chose the Adoptive Parents after learning 

about them from their adoption profile. Then they spent months building a relationship 

with them.   

37.  Approximately ten days after Jane Doe learned of her Cherokee membership, 

the adoptive family she and John Doe had selected made the tearful decision to withdraw 

from the adoption because they did not want to experience the emotional turmoil of 

litigating an adoption case.  As a result, Jane and John Doe had to search for another 

family to adopt their child. 

38.  Jane and John Doe made an open adoption plan with Richard and Mary Roe, 

including plans for them to share pictures, text each other, and meet with Baby Doe from 

time to time.  One of the reasons they chose Richard and Mary Roe is that they appeared 

to be very good people and excellent parents to another child they adopted and Jane and 

John Doe were particularly happy about the fact that Baby Doe would have an older 

brother.  Jane and John Doe are going to defer to the adoptive parents about whether 
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Baby Doe will learn about and stay connected with Cherokee Indian heritage since the 

biological parents have no knowledge of the same.  

39. Jane and John Doe are well aware of their rights under ICWA and OICWA.  

However, they believe they are making the best decision about Baby Doe's care, custody, 

control, and future upbringing and they do not want the Cherokee Nation to interfere with 

the plans they have carefully made. 

40. Jane and John Doe are also adamant that they do not want the Cherokee Nation 

put on notice regarding Baby Doe's adoption. This notice will result in word spreading in 

the tribal offices of their adoption plan in violation of their privacy rights and if the tribe 

seeks out alternate placements then others in the tribal community will learn of their 

adoption plan and John and Jane Doe feel that the decisions that they have made for their 

child are confidential and are not the proper subject of discussions among tribal members. 

This will result in embarrassment and immense pressure to deviate from what Jane and 

John Doe have determined to be the best decision for Baby Doe. This will also provide 

the tribes with the opportunity to intervene and interfere with Richard and Mary Roe's 

adoption of the baby which is what Jane and John Doe have determined to be the best 

decision for Baby Doe. 

41. The Plaintiffs are also embarrassed and alarmed at the breach of 

confidentiality that would ensue if the tribe intervened in their adoption proceeding and 

obtained discovery of very private adoption files and records, including Baby Doe's 

confidential birth certificate, their detailed social medical history statements that they 
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must submit to the state court, the names and addresses of the Richard and Mary Roe and 

their adoption home study and criminal background checks. 

42. As Indian parents, Jane and John Doe are aware of their right to revoke their 

consent at any time until the adoption is final. If the tribe attempts to interfere with their 

private placement adoption, and it becomes apparent that Richard and Mary Roe will not 

be permitted to adopt Baby Doe, Jane and John Doe will revoke the consents already 

given and will not give consent to anyone else for Baby Doe's adoption. 

43. Plaintiffs are profoundly worried that any attempt to interfere with their private 

adoption will not be in Baby Doe's best interest and will be devastating to them and 

Richard and Mary Roe. 

44. OICWA allows the Cherokee Nation to interfere with the voluntary adoption 

by Richard and Mary Roe when the notice and intervention provisions of the federal 

Indian Child Welfare Act would not be applicable to this voluntary adoption.   

Count I 

(All Defendants -Due Process, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983, 1988) 

45. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding allegations as if fully stated 

herein. 

46. The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution precludes any 

State from "depriving any person of life, liberty, or property, without the due process of 

law." U.S. Const. amend. XIV,§ 1. 

47. The privacy interest of parents is a well-established liberty and right protected 

by the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution. 
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48. Plaintiffs have a liberty and privacy interest in their parental rights and should 

be entitled to the certain rights, responsibilities, benefits and protections regardless of 

their race. 

49. Defendants' infringement upon the Plaintiffs' liberty and right to privately 

pursue a direct private placement adoption violates the Due Process Clause. 

50. Defendants' interference upon Plaintiffs' direct private placement adoption 

violates the Plaintiffs' fundamental parental rights and fundamental freedom in liberty, 

dignity, privacy, and family integrity under the Fourteenth Amendment. 

51. 10 Okla. Stat§§ 40.3, 40.4 and 40.6. facially and as applied to ICWA's 

preference provisions (25 U.S.C. § 1915(a)), deprive Plaintiffs of their Due Process rights 

under the Fourteenth Amendment and is not narrowly tailored to serve a compelling 

governmental interest. 

52. Defendants, acting under color of state law, are depriving Plaintiffs of their 

rights secured by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United 

States Constitution in violation of 42 U.S. C. § 1983. 

53. Plaintiffs are entitled to their costs, including their reasonable attorneys' fees, 

pursuant 42 U.S.C. § 1988. 

54. Pursuant to the Federal Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S. C. § 2201, and Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 57, Plaintiffs seek a declaratory judgment that 10 Okla. Stat§§ 40.3, 40.4 and 

40.6, violate the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution. 

55. Plaintiffs have no other adequate remedy at law. 
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Count II 

(All Defendants- Equal Protection, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983, 1988) 

56. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding allegations as if fully stated 

herein. 

57. 10 Okla. Stat§§ 40.3, 40.4 and 40.6, facially and as applied to ICWA's 

preference provisions (25 U.S.C. § 1915(a)), deprives Plaintiffs of Equal Protection under 

the Fourteenth Amendment by discriminating on the basis of race, national origin, and/or 

ethnicity. 

58. On their face, the notification and intervention provisions of 10 Okla. Stat§§ 

40.3, 40.4 and 40.6, discriminate on the basis of race, national origin, and/or ethnicity, do 

not relate to parents or children domiciled on Indian land, do not relate to Indian self-

governance, and therefore these discriminatory provisions are subject to strict scrutiny. 

59. The notification and intervention provisions of 10 Okla. Stat§§ 40.3, 40.4 and 

40.6, as applied to ICWA's preference provisions discriminate on the basis of race, 

national origin, and/or ethnicity, do not relate to parents or children domiciled on Indian 

land, do not relate to Indian self-governance, and therefore these discriminatory 

provisions are subject to strict scrutiny. 

60. The notification and intervention provisions of 10 Okla. Stat§§ 40.3, 40.4, and 

40.6. fail strict scrutiny because they are not narrowly tailored to advance a compelling 

state interest. 
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61. Defendants, acting under color of state law, are depriving Plaintiffs of their 

rights secured by the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the 

United States Constitution in violation of 42 U.S. C. § 1983. 

62. Plaintiffs are entitled to their costs, including their reasonable attorneys' fees, 

pursuant 42 U.S.C. § 1988. 

63. Pursuant to the Federal Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2201, and Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 57, Plaintiffs seek a declaratory judgment that 10 Okla. Stat§§ 40.3, 40.4, and 

40.6. violate the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United 

States Constitution. 

64. Plaintiffs have no other adequate remedy at law. 

Count III 

(All Defendants - Lack of Jurisdiction) 
 

65. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding allegations as if fully stated 

herein. 

66. The United States Constitution grants the federal government the exclusive 

jurisdiction to deal with the Indian Tribes.  The State of Oklahoma does not have 

constitutional authority nor does it have a trust relationship with the Indian Tribes and 

therefore cannot legislate as to the Indian Tribes. 

67. Any jurisdiction of states to legislate as to Indian Tribes must be specifically 

conferred upon the states by Congress.   

68. The provisions of OICWA that apply to voluntary adoptions are beyond the 

scope of the jurisdiction conferred upon the states by ICWA and are therefore invalid. 
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Count IV 

(All Defendants - Request for a Permanent Injunction) 

69. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding allegations as if fully stated 

herein. 

70. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law. 

71. Plaintiffs seek the entry of a permanent injunction, enjoining Defendants and 

Defendants' officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and other persons in active 

concert or participation with Defendants or Defendants' officers, agents, servants, 

employees or attorneys from enforcing 10 Okla. Stat§§ 40.3, 40.4, and 40.6.  

Prayer for Relief 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray that this Court: 

(A) Enter a judgment declaring that 10 Okla. Stat§§ 40.3, 40.4 and 40.6 violate the 

Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution; 

(B) Enter a judgment declaring that 10 Okla. Stat§§ 40.3, 40.4 and 40.6 violate the 

Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution; 

(C)) enter a judgment declaring that 10 Okla. Stat§§ 40.3, 40.4 and 40.6 violate 

the limited jurisdiction conferred upon the State of Oklahoma by the Indian Child 

Welfare Act  

(D) Enter a judgment for a permanent injunction enjoining Defendants from 

enforcing 10 Okla. Stat§§ 40.3, 40.4 and 40.6 as challenged herein;  

(E) Award costs and expenses to Plaintiffs, including reasonable attorneys' fees, 

pursuant to 42 U.S. C. § 1988; and 
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(F) Award such additional relief as this Court deems just and proper. 

 

 

Dated: August 18, 2015. 

 

PAUL E. SWAIN P.L.C. 
 
 
/s/ Paul E. Swain 
Paul E. Swain OBA #8785 
406 S. Boulder Ave., Suite 423 
Tulsa, OK 74103 
Phone: (918) 599-0100 
Fax:  (918) 599-0136 
Email: pswain@swainlaw.com 
 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 
John and Jane Doe 
 
-and- 
/s/ Rebecca Murphy 
Rebecca Ann Murphy OBA#19895 
120 W. 3rd St 
Tulsa, OK 74103 
Phone: (918) 895-8200 
Fax: (918) 592-0040 
Email: murphy.becki@gmail.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
Richard and Mary Roe 
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